
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLtr DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA NO. 1:16-CR-209

(JUDGE RAMBO)

ANDREW MANGANAS
and

PANTHtrRA PAINTING, INC.,
Defendants.

(electronicallv filed)

STATEMENT OF DEFENDANTS

1. Andrew Manganas was President, Vice-President, Secretary,

and Treasurer ofPanthera Painting, Inc., (Panthera), a painting

contractor incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1997 with business offices

Iocated at 333 Morganza Road, Canonsburg, Pennsylvania 15317.

2. Panthera specialized in industrial painting, and many of

Panthera's contracts involved the painting ofhighway bridges.

3. The Federal Highway Administration (tr'tiWA) of the United

States Department of Transportation (USDOT) administers Federal-

Aid programs that reimburse federal funds to state agencies to aid in

the construction and/or maintenance of the United States'

infrastructure each fiscal year. Typically, a state agency such as the

Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT) solicits bids for
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a project and selects the lowest qualified bidder as the prime contractor

After work begins, the state agency pays the contractor as it completes

the work. Once the state agency pays the contractor, the state agency is

reimbursed by the FHWA for the amount it paid to the contractor.

Prior to beginning construction, the prime contractor signs a contract

with the state agency that lays out provisions, requirements, and

stipulations to which the contractor agrees. These provisions are

binding on subcontractors hired by the prime contractor. One ofthose

stipulations is the requirement for each prime and subcontractor on the

project to submit Certified Payroll Reports to PennDOT. Throughout

the duration ofthe construction project, an inspector is required to be

present on behalf of PennDOT to monitor the day-to-day operations and

progress ofthe project and ensure that the work is being completed

according to the specifications outlined in the contract.

4. PennDOT maintains an electronic database called the

Engineering and Construction Management System (trCMS) in which

all construction projects are managed electronically. PennDOT

employees and contractors can access ECMS electronically to sign/

acknowledge documents such as contracts and to perform work for
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PennDOT. Contractors can also submit bids, payment information, and

plans in the ECMS and have them reviewed by PennDOT Inspectors.

Each contract is assigned a number by the ECMS system as a means of

tracking each project.

5. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

administers the Nation's clean water protection program via the Clean

WaterAct (CWA), 33 U.S.C. SS 1251 et seq. The Pennsylvania

Department of Environmental Protection (PADEP) issues CWA

permits, known as National Pollution Discharge Elimination System

(NPDES) permits, pursuant to delegation from EPA, governing

discharges of pollutants into navigable waters of the United States

6. In September of 2009, PennDOT awarded ECMS #57764 for

rehabilitation work on the George Wade Bridge to J.D. Eckman

(Eckman) as the prime contractor. The Wade Bridge spans the

Susquehanna River on Interstate 81 in Cumberland and Dauphin

Counties, Pennsylvania. The Wade Bridge Project was scheduled for

completion on May 25, 2012, but was extended to September 27 , 2013

7. The Wade Bridge Project was also a federal oversight

project, meaning that the FHWA conducted reviews and approvals
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during the project's design and construction phases. The contract

reimbursing 90 percent ofthat cost.

8. In October 2009, Panthera was awarded a $9,875,000

subcontract by prime contractor Eckman. The subcontract awarded to

Panthera covered the blasting, resurfacing,, and painting of the

9. The Davis-Bacon Act of 1931 requires that workers be paid

their wages according to a table of wages that is determined and

defined by the Secretary of Labor and enforced by the United States

Department of Labor (USDOL). The general purpose of this

being compensated commensurate with their job skill level and hours

bidding process by making sure that contractors do not underpay their

10. A requirement of the Federal-Aid Road Act for every

federally funded project, including the Wade Bridge Project, is the

preparation and submission by the contractors of Certified Payroll

4

amount was $42,480,434.O5 with the FHWA's federal-aid programs

structural steel on the George Wade Bridge.

requirement is to protect the interests ofworkers by assuring they are

worked. These requirements also act to protect the integrity ofthe

workers.
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Reports to the Wage and Hour Division of the U.S. Department of Labor

(USDOL WHD) and PennDOT which acts on behalf of the FHWA.

Those reports, submitted bi-weekly, are required to accurately list the

names, hours worked,, and pay received by all employees of the

contractor for whom they work. Those forms must be signed by a

responsible company official, and the contract documents advise the

signer that any willful falsification of any of the required items or

statements contained within those documents constitutes a violation of

Federal criminal law.

11. Applicable regulations required that copies ofcertified

payrolls filed with PennDOT for Federal-aid projects, including the

George Wade Bridge Project, were to be retained by the State Highway

Administration (i.e., PennDOT) and the prime contractor for three years

for review as needed by the Federal Highway Administration, the

Department of Labor, the General Accounting Office, or other agencies.

12. Applicable regulations require that all laborers and

mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors working on

Federal aid highway projects be paid at the prevailing wage as set by

the Secretary ofLabor in the Davis-Bacon Act of 1931. This

5
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requirement was specified in the terms of the contract between

PennDOT and Eckman, and Panthera's contract with Eckman.

13. For many pay periods, most of the Panthera employees

received two checks. The first was a regular payroll check supposedly

reflecting all hours worked. The second check was referred to as a "per

diem check." The regular payroll checks did not include all the

compensation for hours worked by Panthera employees. Instead,

employees were paid part of their compensation via misnamed "per

diem checks." The "per diem" checks contained amounts for hours

In addition, the total compensation paid, including the "per diem

checks," did not always accurately correspond to the correct prevailing

wage rate that the employee should have been paid under the Davis-

Bacon Act of 1931.

14. Manganas falsely underreported hours worked on the

Certified Payroll Reports. The Certified Payroll Reports would be

delivery to the prime contractor, Eckman. Eckman collected all of the

Certified Payroll Reports for all ofthe sub-contractors and delivered

t)

worked without having any taxes, deductions, or remittances taken out.

signed by the "Secretary" of Panthera and placed in the U.S. Mail for
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them to PennDOT for filing. Panthera's Certified Payroll Reports for

the Wade Bridge Project for the years 2010, 2}ll,2072, and 2013

represent the official filing of hours worked by Panthera employees on

the Wade Bridge Project.

15. Most Panthera employees on the Wade Bridge Project were

union members. As members of unions, a portion of the wage the

employees earned each hour became payable to their respective unions'

welfare benefit plan and each individual's pension plan as soon as the

union member worked that hour. The I.U.P.A.T District Council #21

Health and Welfare, Annuity, Apprenticeship, Scholarship, Vacation,

Finishing Trades Institute of Eastern Pennsylvaniai the I.U.P.A.T.

District Council #57 Welfare, Annuity, Apprenticeship, and Labor

Management Cooperation Fundsi and the International Painters and

Allied Trades Industry Pension Fund were subject to the provisions of

Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. By

under-reporting hours worked by some employees, Manganas avoided

paying the ERISA-covered funds for those employee contributions. By

acting in this manner, Manganas effectively converted the money that

was due to these funds to his own personal use.

7
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16. Panthera's contract with Eckman originally called for it to

receive a fixed price of $ 9,875,000 for its work on the Wade Bridge

Project. Because ofchanges in the scope ofwork throughout the

contract, Panthera's contract amount rose to $10,071,000. The false

reporting and manner of paying resulted in losses to workers, and the

failure to properly account for overtime hours resulted in losses to union

benefit and pension plans.

17. With respect to Count 1, this evidence would prove that,

from on or about July 27 ,2011 through August 2013, in Cumberland

and Dauphin Counties, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and

elsewhere, the defendants, Andrew Manganas and Panthera Painting,

and other assets of employee welfare benefit plans, those being the

I.U.P.A.T District Council #21 Health and Welfare, Annuity,

Apprenticeship, Scholarship, Vacation, Finishing Trades Institute of

Eastern Pennsylvania; the I.U.P.A.T. District Council #57 Welfare,

Annuity, Apprenticeship, and Labor Management Cooperation Fundsi

and the International Painters and Allied Trades Industry Pension

Fund that were subject to Title I of ERISA or connected with such

8

Inc., unlawfully and willfully converted to their own use moneys, funds,
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plans, and did aid, abet, counsel, command and procure the same, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 664 and 2.

18. With respect to Count 23, this evidence also would prove

that, in connection with a Panthera bill dated July 15, 2011 for

$288,000.00 for work on the Wade Bridge Project, with an FHWA

portion of $259,200.00 paid on July 29,2011, in Cumberland and

Dauphin Counties, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and

Inc., knowingly devised a scheme and artifice to defraud and for

obtaining money by means offalse or fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and promises, and for the purpose of executing that

communication in interstate commerce writings, signs, signals,

the same in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and

19. The Clean WaterAct ("CWA"), 38 U.S.C. Section 1251. et

seq., is the Nation's comprehensive water pollution control statute. The

purpose of the CWA is to restore and maintain the chemical, physical,

9

elsewhere, the defendants, Andrew Manganas and Panthera Painting.

scheme and artifice caused to be transmitted by means of wire

pictures, and sounds, and did aid, abet, counsel, command, and procure

2.
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and biological integrity of the Nation's water. In addition, the CWA

was enacted to prevent, reduce, and eliminate water pollution in the

Uni.ted States and to conserve the waters of the United States for the

protection and propagation of fish and aquatic life and wildlife,

recreational purposes, and for the use of such waters for public drinking

water, agricultural, and industrial purposes.

20. Title 33, United States Code, Section 1311 of the CWA,

prohibits the discharge of any pollutant by any person from a point

source into a navigable water of the United States, except in compliance

with provisions of the CWA, including 33 U.S.C. Section 1342

27. The CWA defines a "person" as an individual and a

corporation, and "any responsible corporate officeri" "discharge of a

pollutant" as any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from

any point sourcei "pollutant" as, among other things, solid waste,

sewage, sewage sludge, chemical wastes, and industrial and

agricultural waste discharged into wateri "navigable waters" as waters

ofthe United Statesi and "point source" as any discernible, confined,

and discrete conveyance from which pollutants are discharged,

including any pipe, ditch, channel, conduit, and discrete fissure.

10
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22. Title 33, United States Code, Section 1342 of the CWA

issued under the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System

('NPDES") by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") or a

federally authorized state agency, including the Pennsylvania

Department of Environmental Protection ("PADEP").

23. The Susquehanna River is an interstate water body, flowing

from New York State through Pennsylvania into Maryland and then

discharging into the Chesapeake Bay. It is a navigable water of the

United States.

24. The CWA required persons to obtain a CWA NPDES permit

from the PADEP prior to discharging pollutants, such as abrasive paint

25. In general, Panthera workers blasted, resurfaced and

painted areas of the George Wade Bridge from April to November of

2010, 20L1, and 2012 and completed their work sometime in the

summer of 2013.

26. The bridge painting contract under which Panthera was

hired expressly stated that a CWA NPDES permit was not required to
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authorizes the discharge of pollutants only in compliance with a permit

blasting materials, waste paint and metal into the Susquehanna River.
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be obtained because Panthera was not supposed to discharge any

pollutants into the Susquehanna River. Defendants Panthera and

pollutants did not enter the River, including construction of

"containment" to cover bridge areas being blasted clean and repainted.

collection and recycling systems on segments of the bridge being blasted

Susquehanna River.

27. Between 2010 and 2013, the defendants used these

techniques to collect wastes generated during blasting and shipped such

material off-site in 55-gallon containers as hazardous waste due to its

lead content.

28. During the course of the Wade Bridge Project, Panthera

workers, at the direction of and with the knowledge of defendant

Manganas, engaged in blasting paint off metal pieces outside areas in

which the workers had set up containment to capture waste material

(known as open blasting), resulting in the discharge ofpolutants into

the Susquehanna River.

12

Manganas were supposed to utilize various methods to ensure that

Containment involved using ropes, cables, fabric, metal pans and waste

and repainted to prevent pollutants from being discharged into the
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29. Manganas knerv PADEP did not issue a CWA NPDES

permit to any person authorizing the discharge ofpollutants from point

sources, such as blasting equipment, shovels, containment tarps, or

other equipment from the George Wade Bridge, into the Susquehanna

30. With respect to Counts 44 through 46, this evidence would

prove that from on or about July 27,2011 until about November 2011,

from on or about April 2012 until about November 20L2, and from on or

about April 2013 until about August 2013, in Dauphin and Cumberland

Counties, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the

defendants, Andrew Manganas and Panthera Painting, Inc., knowinglv

discharged pollutants, that is paint blasting abrasive materials, paint

waste, and metal, from a point source, that is blasting equipment, into a

navigable water of the United States, that is the Susquehanna River,

without a CWA NPDES permit, and did aid, abet, counsel, command,

13

River.
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and procure the same in violation of Title 33, United States Code,

Section le19(c)(2) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

ACKNO DGMENTS

I have read this statement and carefully reviewed every part of it
with my attorney. I fully understand it and I voluntarily agree to it.

t(ZZ /r*
Date ndrew Man AS

Personally and as authorized
Representative of Panthera Painting, Inc.

I am the defendants'counsel. I have carefully reviewed every part
of this statement with the defendants.

rlzzJ tz
Date tephen S. Stallings, Esq.

Counsel for Defendants
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